#### STATE OF WISCONSIN, SUPREME COURT

# **RECEIVED** 12-04-2015

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

ALBERT D. MOUSTAKIS,

Plaintiff-Appellant-Petitioner,

-vs-

Case No.: 2014AP001853

STATE OF WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE,

Defendant-Respondent.

and

STEVEN M. LUCARELI,

Intervenor.

## ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR LINCOLN COUNTY,

#### THE HONORABLE JAY R. TLUSTY, PRESIDING

## LINCOLN COUNTY CASE NO.: 14 CV 41

## **BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT-PETITIONER**

Name: Benjamin J. Krautkramer State Bar No.: 1047184 Address: 415 Orbiting Drive, Mosinee, WI 54455 Telephone No.: 715-692-7943

#

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 19, 2014, Albert D. Moustakis (hereinafter referred to as

"Moustakis") received a phone call from Attorney Kevin C. Potter, acting on

behalf of the State of Wisconsin Department of Justice (an entity hereinafter

referred to as "DoJ"). R. 23 at 1; R. 5 at 3. Moustakis holds the office of District

Attorney for Vilas County. R. 23 at 1. Attorney Potter is the designated records

custodian for DoJ.

During the February 19, 2014 phone call, Attorney Potter informed

Moustakis about a pending open records request regarding Moustakis. R. 23 at 1-

2. Included in the request, Joe VanDeLaarshot, a reporter for regional newspaper

"The Lakeland Times", sought the following:

Copies of any complaints or investigations regarding Vilas County District Attorney Al Moustakis that the Wisconsin Department of Justice and the Wisconsin Department of Criminal Investigation has. We also want copies of any information regarding complaints regarding Moustakis or reports or documents regarding any investigation of his conduct or handling of cases while district attorney. That includes information related to complaints and investigations regarding Mr. Moustakis that were completed or ended without any action taken against him or if there was action take [sic].

I understand that because Wisconsin district attorneys are technically state employees that your office could provide this information.

R. 5 at 7. DoJ received the open records request on July 18, 2013, and had yet to

provide documents in response seven (7) months later. R. 5 at 2. Between the

phone call, and subsequent e-mail exchange between the parties, Moustakis

received a redacted, pre-release copy of the records identified in response to the request.<sup>1</sup> R. 5

The Division of Criminal Investigations (hereafter referred to as "DCI"), had received complaints relevant to the scope of the discovery request. DoJ compiled eighty-five (85) pages of documents in response to the request. R. 6 at 10. The complaints were investigated and the underlying allegations were found to have been unsubstantiated. R. 23 at 2. Moustakis was not contacted by DCI or its agents during the investigation of the complaints. He was, likewise, not contacted about the records of these investigations prior to February 19, 2014, at which point the decision to release the records had already been made by DoJ. R. 23 at 2; R. 5 at 3.

Moustakis received the redacted records on or about March 5, 2014. R. 23 at 2. Upon receipt and review of the redacted records, Moustakis knows the allegations which prompted the DCI investigation to be false. R. 23 at 2. On March 6, 2014, Moustakis, through legal counsel, gave notice of his intent to seek judicial review of the DoJ decision to release the records. R. 10 at 4. The Summons and Complaint seeking review under Wis. Stat. § 19.356 were filed in Lincoln County on March 10, 2014. R. 1 at 1, 3.

A status conference in the case was held on April 3, 2014, following a Notice of Appearance having been filed by DoJ. R. 2. The trial court noted the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Court's record does not include a copy – redacted or unredacted – of the documents compiled by DoJ in response to the open records request. DoJ refused to provide a copy of the documents for an *in camera* review by the trial court until such time as the trial court had resolved the question of standing. R. 4 at 47-50.

proof of service on Defendant had not yet been filed. R. 4 at 26, 57-58. DoJ filed a Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Competency to Proceed on May 23, 2014, alongside its Answer to the Complaint R. 9; R. 10. On May 29, 2014, Steven D. Lucareli (hereinafter referred to as "Lucareli") filed a Motion and Complaint seeking to intervene in the action. R. 11. On June 6, 2014, Judge Jay R. Tlusty sent a letter to the parties noting the filing of the proof of service on DoJ earlier that same day and putting the parties on notice it would not be possible for the Court to issue a decision on the Complaint within the ten (10) day timeframe set forth in Wis. Stat. § 19.356(7). R. 14. The parties moved the trial court to extend the deadline to thirty (30) days, a motion which the Court granted on June 18, 2014. R. 19.

Before deciding the Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's Complaint, Plaintiff filed an Amended Complaint on June 25, 2014. R. 25. The Amended Complaint added causes of action seeking a common law Writ of Mandamus, as well as a declaration the Wisconsin Open Records laws, as interpreted by DoJ, are unconstitutional. On July 1, 2014, following extensive briefing and oral argument<sup>2</sup> on the DoJ's motion, the circuit court dismissed Moustakis' Wis. Stat. § 19.356 action for lack of standing. R. 8; R. 24; R. 26; R. 54 at 15-17. DoJ sought, and initially received , a dismissal of the second and third causes of action from the Amended Complaint; the circuit court reversed the dismissals on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> During oral argument, DoJ acknowledged the unsubstantiated nature of the allegations in the DCI investigations, indicating a release of the records "vindicated" Moustakis. R. 63 at 44. Since the false allegations are not public, there is nothing to vindicate Moustakis against unless the DoJ is allowed to release the vindicating records.

reconsideration, but stayed the two (2) causes of action, based upon Moustakis' intent to appeal the dismissal of the Wis. Stat. § 19.356 claim. R. 53 at 49-50; R. 61 at 34, 47-48.

Following an unsatisfactory ruling in the Court of Appeals, Moustakis successfully petitioned this Court for review of the lower court decisions.

#### **QUESTIONS PRESENTED**

1. Whether Moustakis, a District Attorney in the State of Wisconsin, is an "employee" as that term is defined in Wis. Stat. § 19.32(1bg) and as that term is used in Wis. Stat. § 19.356?

Whether the modifications to the open records laws made by 2003
Wis. Act 47 are constitutional?

#### BRIEF ANSWERS

1. Moustakis' employer is the State of Wisconsin, which is not an "authority" under Wis. Stat. § 19.32(1). As such, he is "employed by an employer other than an authority," thereby an "employee" with standing to seek judicial review of a records release.

2. Because the modifications to the Wisconsin Open Records law deny public officials the fundamental right of access to the Courts, where a less-restrictive means for doing so is present within the Act, the 2003 modifications to the open records laws cannot withstand strict scrutiny.

#### STANDARDS OF REVIEW

Trial court's conclusions or interpretation of law are reviewed de novo, without deference to the trial court. <u>City of Muskego v. Godec</u>, 167 Wis. 2d 536, 545, 482 N.W.2d 79 (1992).

#### ARGUMENT

# I. VIEWING THE DEFINITIONS FROM THE PERSPECTIVE OF A RECORDS REQUEST, RATHER THAN IN THE ABSTRACT, MAKES THE QUESTION OF STANDING EASIER TO COMPREHEND.

Before the technical parsing of Chapter Nineteen (19), Subchapter Two (2)

of the Wisconsin Statutes begins in earnest, it is helpful to understand, at a conceptual level, why problems arise in the application of the open records laws. The definition of "authority" in Wis. Stat. § 19.32(1) is drafted as broadly as possible. Moustakis, for instance, is considered an authority for holding the elective office of the Vilas County District Attorney, a state office which is itself a separate authority. This definition cannot be considered overbroad, since it is meant to cover as many persons and agencies as can be fit within the umbrellas of state and local government. However, with so many varying entities to shoehorn into the definition, the second part of the definition, "having custody of a record", tends to get lost in the analysis.

Moustakis has repeatedly argued the drafting of the open records laws is ill prepared to account for varying levels of government involvement in creating and maintaining records. *See*, Moustakis' Ct. App. Brief at 25. When that broadlydefined "authority" is referenced in the definition of "employee," we start to see tension between the terms general and specific usages. Open records requests are not made to the breadth of the term "authority," but are instead targeted at specific authorities, selected because the records requester believes the targeted authorities have custody of the records being sought. While the question is irrelevant in the context of the definition of "authority," in context of what it means to be an "employee," does it matter whether the employ*er* has custody of the records being requested?

If having custody of "a record" means only that an entity which retains documents, memoranda, etc. is to be considered an authority, then our analysis of the issues will mirror the analyses presented to the lower courts, shaped heavily by the prior interpretations of the DoJ. *See*, Wis. Stat. § 19.39; *see also*, <u>Schill v</u>. <u>Wisconsin Rapids Sch. Dist.</u>, 2010 WI 86, ¶ ¶ 35-36, 327 Wis. 2d 572, 786 N.W.2d 177. On the other hand, if the question of whether an individual is an "employee" turns on whether the individual's employer is still an "authority" when it lacks custody of the records being sought, the analysis is decidedly different. Wis. Stat. § 19.356 is concerned not with records in the abstract, but with specific records, identifying the records subject and created or obtained in limited ways. Wis. Stat. § 19.356(2)(a)1-3.

Moustakis is an authority under Wis. Stat. § 19.32(1), as is the state public office he holds, since the entities do retain records. The request did not come to

- 12 -

Moustakis or to the Vilas County District Attorney's office. The request was made to the authority with sole custody of the unredacted records: DoJ. While DOJ has repeatedly argued Moustakis is not employed by the State of Wisconsin, an entity which falls outside the broad definition of "authority" found in the statutes, the only entity with custody of the specific record is the DoJ, which is not Moustakis' employer. If custody of the relevant records is a determining factor, Moustakis would be "employed by an employer other than" the authority with custody of the records, and thereby an employee for purposes of Wis. Stat. § 19.32(1bg). The Statute's problem with "dotted-line" management, government oversight by agencies without a direct employment or hierarchical relationship, when viewed with fresh eyes may be less a problem with the statutes and more a problem with the manner in which we have attempted to interpret those statutes.

# II. STATUTORY INTERPRETATION REQUIRES FINDING MOUSTAKIS IS AN "EMPLOYEE," ABSENT A REASONABLE IN-CONTEXT INTERPRETATION TO THE CONTRARY.

Statutory interpretation assumes "that the legislature's intent is expressed in the statutory language." <u>State ex. rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane County</u>, 2004 WI 58, ¶ 44, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. "Statutory language is given its common, ordinary, and accepted meaning, except that technical or specially-defined words or phrases are given their technical or special definitional meaning." <u>Id.</u> at ¶ 45. Statutory language is interpreted as part of a whole, in relation to closely-related statutes. <u>Id.</u> at ¶ 46. Statutory language is interpreted reasonably, to avoid absurd or unreasonable results, as well as to give reasonable effect to every word in order to avoid surplusage. <u>Id.</u> After applying these rules of construction, if the analysis leads to a singular statutory meaning, there is no ambiguity, and no need to consult extrinsic authority. Id.

The question of standing, which has been dispositive of the litigation thus far, pivots on the question of whether Moustakis is an "employee" under the definition provided in Wis. Stat. § 19.32(1bg):

"Employee" means any individual who is employed by an authority, *other than an individual holding local public office or a state public office*, or any individual who is employed by an employer other than an authority.

(Emphasis added). Literally at the heart of this definition is the italicized exclusionary clause. The exclusion splits the definition into two (2) subsections, with a conjunctive "or." As drafted, an individual who would not be considered an "employee" under the first subsection may still be treated as an "employee" for purposes of the open records statutes if he or she qualifies under the second subsection. "Any individual employed by an employer other than an authority" is an "employee," even if that individual holds local public office or a state public office.

## A. <u>The Rules of Statutory Interpretation Confirm Moustakis'</u> Interpretation of "Employee" in Relation to Wis. Stat. § 19.356.

There are two (2) relevant uses of the term "employee" within Wis. Stat. § 19.356. The first use providing standing for judicial review of a release of records

pursuant to the request, with standing being conditioned on the nature of the

record.

Except as provided in pars. (b) to (d) and as otherwise authorized or required by statute, if an authority decides under s. 19.35 to permit access to a record specified in this paragraph, the authority shall, before permitting access and within 3 days after making the decision to permit access, serve written notice of that decision on any record subject to whom the record pertains, either by certified mail or by personally serving the notice on the record subject. The notice shall briefly describe the requested record and include a description of the rights of the record subject under subs. (3) and (4). This paragraph applies only to the following records:

1. A record containing information relating to an employee that is created or kept by the authority and that is the *result of an investigation into a disciplinary matter involving the employee or possible employment–related violation by the employee of a statute, ordinance, rule, regulation, or policy* of the employee's employer.

2. A record obtained by the authority through a subpoena or search warrant.

3. A record prepared by an employer other than an authority, if that record contains information relating to an employee of that employer, unless the employee authorizes the authority to provide access to that information.

Wis. Stat. § 19.356(2)(a) (Emphasis added). There does not appear to be a bona

fide dispute between the parties over whether the records at issue in this case fall

into Wis. Stat. § 19.356(2)(a)1, aside from the question over whether Moustakis

can be considered an "employee." R. 63 at 26-28; Moustakis Ct. App. Reply Brief

at 8 n.3.

The second relevant use of "employee" comes in the form of an ancillary

notice for pre-release review of requested records.

(a) Except as otherwise authorized or required by statute, if an authority decides under s. 19.35 to permit access to a record containing information relating to a record subject who is an officer or employee of the authority holding a local public office or a state public office, the authority shall, before permitting access and within 3 days after making the decision to permit access, serve written notice of that decision on the record subject, either by certified mail or by personally serving the notice on the record subject. The notice shall briefly describe the requested record and include a description of the rights of the record subject under par. (b).

(b) Within 5 days after receipt of a notice under par. (a), a record subject may augment the record to be released with written comments and documentation selected by the record subject. Except as otherwise authorized or required by statute, the authority under par. (a) shall release the record as augmented by the record subject.

Wis. Stat. § 19.356(9). Under the principles established for statutory interpretation, Moustakis has maintained throughout the litigation his belief the Court must harmonize its application of "employee" as defined in Wis. Stat. § 19.32(1bg) across these closely-related uses of the defined term in Wis. Stat. § 19.356. Kalal, 2004 WI 58, ¶ 46.

When the two (2) subsections are reviewed in harmony, the DoJ's preferred interpretation of "employee" is transparently untenable. If the Legislature had intended for the term "employee" to absolutely exclude state and local public officials, there would be no reason for the word "employee" to show up in Wis. Stat. § 19.356(9)(a); it would not be possible for any person to be an "employee" and hold "local public office or state public office," as those office holders are expressly excluded from the definition of "employee" under the DoJ's interpretation of the statute. *See, e.g.*, DoJ Ct. App. Brief, at 8. Since the legislature has given "employee" a specific, defined meaning, we cannot – as the Court of Appeals did – ignore the special definitional meaning of the word when interpreting Wis. Stat. § 19.356(9)(a). *C.f.*, Ct. App. Decision, ¶ 23; Kalal, 2004 WI 58, ¶ 45.

With doubt cast upon the DoJ interpretation of "employee" as it applies to Wis. Stat. §19.356, Moustakis' interpretation is based on the remaining

information at hand. The exclusionary clause in Wis. Stat. § 19.32(1bg) appears in between two (2) independent sub-definitions of the word, suggesting the restriction against state and local public office holders applies only to the first subdefinition. At the same time, the use of the word "employee" in Wis. Stat. § 19.356(9)(a) likewise suggests it is possible for an individual to be both a state public office holder and an "employee." Because it is possible to give reasonable effect to the use of the word "employee" in Wis. Stat. § 19.356(9)(a), the word should be deemed meaningful as defined, and not discarded as surplusage. <u>Kalal</u>, 2004 WI 58, ¶ 46. If it is possible for an individual holding local or state public office (including Moustakis) to fall within the second sub-definition of Wis. Stat. § 19.32(1bg), to be employed by an employee" for open records purposes, irrespective of the exclusionary clause.

Moustakis' assertion his employer is the State of Wisconsin, an entity which is not an "authority" under Wis. Stat. § 19.32(1), thus making Moustakis an "employee" under Wis. Stat. § 19.32(1bg), constitutes a reasonable interpretation of the statutes. The DoJ interpretation of these related statutes cannot harmonize its interpretation of "employee" with the word's use in Wis. Stat. § 19.356(9), and therefore cannot be a reasonable interpretation of the statutes. Because there is only one (1) reasonable interpretation before the Court, there is not an ambiguity as to the meaning of the word "employee", which can be cured by examining extrinsic evidence, like legislative history. Kalal, 2004 WI 58, ¶ 47.

- 17 -

# B. <u>A Finding of Ambiguity Would Only Further Demonstrate the Flaw</u> in DoJ's Interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 19.356(9).

The Court of Appeals suggests Moustakis' assertion of non-ambiguity for the definition of "employee" is an attempt to avoid extrinsic evidence, including the Joint Legislative Council's notes on 2003 Wis. Act 47. Ct. App. Decision, ¶ 22. This presumption of improper motive is unbecoming, as the legislative history is as harmful to the DoJ interpretation of the statutes as it is for Moustakis' interpretation. Any ambiguity over whether Wis. Stat. § 19.356(9) applies to state and local public officials, or whether the officials must be "employed by the authority" for subsection nine (9) to require notice, falls apart in light of the extrinsic evidence:

Creates s. 19.365 (9) [sic.], stats., to provide that an **authority must notify a** record subject who holds a local public office or a state public office of the impending release of a record containing information relating to the employment of the record subject.

2003 Wis. Act 47, § 4 note 6 (Emphasis added); Moustakis' Ct. App. Reply Brief, 10; R. 7 at  $36^3$ . Even if DoJ could assert the language of Wis. Stat. § 19.356(9) is ambiguous with respect to employees holding state public office, the legislative

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Affidavit of Mary E. Burke dated May 20, 2014 indicates that Exhibit D includes a "true and correct" copy of 2003 Wis. Act 47, which the affiant printed from <u>https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/2003/related/acts/47</u>. The Affidavit contains only a partial copy of the act, cutting off immediately before the note referencing Wis. Stat. §19.356(9). The Wisconsin State Legislature website requires the user to scroll down the page to load the full text of an act before printing the complete act via Microsoft Internet Explorer. Attorney Burke apparently failed to do so in this instance. While Attorney Burke submitted a false affidavit, Moustakis does not believe the error was intentional; the cut-off point is an unfortunate coincidence. In any event, the quoted language should have been placed in the record, but for this error.

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