RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **12-28-2015**

IN SUPREME COUR CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

No. 2014AP1853

ALBERT D. MOUSTAKIS,

Plaintiff-Appellant-Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE,

Defendant-Respondent,

STEVEN M. LUCARELI,

Intervenor.

ON REVIEW OD A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT III, AFFIRMING AN ORDER ENTERED BY THE LINCOLN COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JAY R. TLUSTY, PRESIDING

RESPONSE BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

BRIAN P. KEENAN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1056525

Attorneys for Defendant-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

Moustakis is not entitled to pre-release review of public records because he is not an "employee" as defined in Wis. Stat. § 19.32(1bg). While the plain language of the statute is clear, this conclusion is confirmed by the legislative history. Moustakis avoid cannot the straightforward interpretation of the statute by focusing on the use of the word "employee" in a subsection not at issue in this case. In any event, the documents at issue are not covered by Wis. Stat. § 19.356 because they are not employment-related records. Lastly, the strong public policy in favor of public access outweighs any public interest in preventing release of the records.

I. Moustakis has no standing to bring a claim under Wis. Stat. § 19.356(4) because he is not an "employee."

The general rule is that "no person is entitled to judicial review of the decision of an authority to provide a requester with access to a record." Wis. Stat. 19.356(1). The pre-release judicial review procedure in Wis. Stat. § 19.356(4) contains an exception for three narrow classes of "employee-related records," which the legislature enacted as a "response to the supreme court's holdings in *Milwaukee Teachers' Education Association v. Milwaukee Board of School Directors*, 227 Wis. 2d 779, 596 N.W.2d 403 (1999),

and Woznicki v. Erickson, 202 Wis. 2d 178, 549 N.W.2d 699 (1996)." Local 2489, AFSCME, AFL-CIO v. Rock Cty., 2004 WI App 201, ¶ 2, 277 Wis. 2d 208, 689 N.W.2d 644. Pre-release judicial review is limited to "employees" because the records at issue in Milwaukee Teachers' and Woznicki were public employees' personnel records.

Moustakis is not an "employee" entitled to pre-release judicial review under Wis. Stat. § 19.356(4) based on the plain language of the definition in Wis. Stat. § 19.32(1bg). If there were any doubt about the plain language, the notes from the Joint Legislative Council confirm that Moustakis does not qualify as an "employee." Lastly, the use of the word "employee" in Wis. Stat. § 19.356(9) does not change the proper interpretation of the term in Wis. Stat. § 19.356(2).

A. The plain language of Wis. Stat. § 19.32(1bg) excludes Moustakis from the definition of "employee."

"[S]tatutory interpretation 'begins with the language of the statute. If the meaning of the statute is plain, we ordinarily stop the inquiry." State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane Cty., 2004 WI 58, ¶ 45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110 (quoting Seider v. O'Connell, 2000 WI 76, ¶ 43, 236 Wis.2d 211, 612 N.W.2d 659). Moustakis is not an "employee" as defined by Wis. Stat. § 19.32(1bg) and thus he has no standing to invoke Wis. Stat. § 19.365(4) because he does not "fall[] within the ambit of the statute . . . involved."

Foley-Ciccantelli v. Bishop's Grove Condo. Ass'n, Inc., 2011 WI 36, ¶ 54, 333 Wis. 2d 402, 797 N.W.2d 789.

The definition of "employee" has two categories: one for "any individual who is employed by an authority, other than an individual holding local public office or a state public office," and another for "any individual who is employed by an employer other than an authority." Wis. Stat. § 19.32(1bg). Under a straightforward reading of the statute, Moustakis is covered by the first category—those employed by an authority—but excluded as holding state public office. Only by resorting to a tortured reading with no support in the law can Moustakis contend that he is actually covered by the second category—those who are not employed by an authority.

District attorneys are "employed by an authority" because the legislature specifically listed district attorneys among those who hold "state public office." The legislature would not have included district attorneys among the "state public office" exclusion to the first category of employees if district attorneys were not intended to be covered by the first category. Specifically, Wis. Stat. § 19.32(4) defines "state public office" as having "the meaning given in s. 19.42(13)," which defines "state public office" as, among other things, "[a]ll positions identified under s. 20.923(2)." Wis. Stat. § 19.42(13)(c). In turn, Wis. Stat. § 20.923(2) identifies constitutional officers and other state elected

officials, including district attorneys. Wis. Stat. § 20.923(2)(j).

Moustakis's contention that he is covered by the second category of employees is refuted by the legislature's specific reference to district attorneys in the definition of "state public office." Moustakis's reading would make much of "state public office" the exception meaningless. contravening the rule that courts should interpret words "not in isolation but as part of a whole; in relation to the language of surrounding or closely-related statutes; and reasonably, to avoid absurd or unreasonable results." *Kalal*, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 46. Put simply, the legislature would not have defined the "state public office" exception to the first category of employees in a way that specifically includes district attorneys (and all other constitutional officers) if the legislature did not intend constitutional officers to be covered by that category.¹

Moustakis's argument is based on the unsupported assumption that he is to be treated as employed by State of Wisconsin for purposes of Wis. Stat. § 19.32(1bg) because he holds a state constitutional position whose salary is set by

¹ The legislature excluded positions that would have been covered by the definition of "state public office," specifically the positions "identified in s. 20.923(6)(f) to (gm)." Wis. Stat. § 19.32(4). The legislature's actions with respect to those positions demonstrate that exceptions should be explicit, rather than the backdoor exception-to-the-exception advocated by Moustakis. *See Kalal*, 271 Wis. 26633, ¶ 46.

the legislature. District attorneys' salaries are set in accordance with Wis. Stat. § 20.923(2)(e), but this is the very statutory subsection that makes him a holder of "state public office." Further, Chapter 19 makes no categorical exclusion for offices created by article VI, section 4 of the Wisconsin Constitution, which establishes $_{
m the}$ district attorney position. The public records law defines "state public office" to specifically include all state constitutional officers. See Wis. Stat. §§ 19.32(4), 19.42(13)(c), 20.923(2)(j). In addition, offices established by article VI, section 4, such as sheriffs and county chief executives, are covered by the definition of "local public office" in Wis. Stat. § 19.32(1dm). See Wis. Stat. §§ 19.32(1dm), 19.42(7u), 19.42(7w)(a).

This Court should reject Moustakis's contrived argument that he cannot both hold the office of district attorney and be employed by the district attorneys' office. These two capacities are not mutually exclusive, which is clearly shown by the legislature's inclusion of district attorneys (and other similar positions) in the definition of "state public office." The plain language, context, structure, and interrelation between the public records statutes all show that Moustakis is to be treated as employed by an authority but exempted from the definition of "employee" as a holder of "state public office."

B. To the extent there is any ambiguity, the legislative history confirms Moustakis is not an "employee."

At best, Moustakis has found an ambiguity in the statute. Any alleged ambiguity, however, is resolved by the legislative history, which confirms that district attorneys are not "employees" entitled to the protections of Wis. Stat. § 19.356. This Court can look to legislative history "to confirm or verify a plain-meaning interpretation." *Kalal*, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 51. The Joint Legislative Council issued explanatory notes for 2003 Wisconsin Act 47, which created both the definition of "employee" in Wis. Stat. § 19.32(1bg) and the pre-release judicial review process in Wis. Stat. § 19.356, that make clear that Moustakis is not an "employee."

The prefatory note to Act 47 explains that the statute was enacted in response to the *Milwaukee Teachers*' and *Woznicki* decisions, which had granted public employees rights of pre-release notice and judicial review for records relating to their employment. The prefatory note says that "the logical extension of these opinions is that the right to notice and the right to judicial review may extend to any record subject, regardless of whether the record subject is a public employee." 2003 Wisconsin Act 47, Joint Legislative Council Prefatory Note.

Thus, Act 47 created a definition of "employee" that addressed both public sector and private sector employees.

The Note explains that the Act "[c]reates a definition of the term 'employee' to mean any public or private sector employee, other than an individual holding local public office or state public office." 2003 Wisconsin Act 47, § 1, note 1 (emphasis added). The notes to Act 47 make clear that the category covering those "employed by an authority" was intended to cover public employees while the category covering those not employed by an authority was intended to cover private sector employees. The law does contemplate a third category of public employees who are to be treated as private sector employees because they are employed by the State of Wisconsin.

C. The use of the word "employee" in Wis. Stat. § 19.356(9) does not override the plain meaning interpretation.

Moustakis focuses most of his argument on statutory subsection that is not at issue in this case, Wis. Stat. § 19.356(9). That provision contains a procedure allowing certain record subjects to augment the record production when discloses "record[s] an authority containing information relating to a record subject who is an officer or employee of the authority holding a local public office or a state public office." Wis. Stat. § 19.356(9)(a). Moustakis contends that the use of the word "employee" in this context must include some people who hold state or local public office because otherwise the word "employee" would have no

meaning. Moustakis's argument, however, does not help his position.

Moustakis at best has pointed out that the word "employee" in Wis. Stat. § 19.356(9) may be surplusage. The rule against surplusage is not an immutable law of statutory construction; it only applies "where possible." *Kalal*, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 46. While courts "attempt to construe statutes and ordinances to avoid surplusages, a statutory redundancy or 'unexplained surplusage' does not necessarily require a declaration of ambiguity." *Bruno v. Milwaukee Cty.*, 2003 WI 28, ¶ 24, 260 Wis. 2d 633, 660 N.W.2d 656. Irrespective of the definition of the word "employee," the provision would still apply to "an officer . . . of the authority holding a local public office or a state public office." Wis. Stat. § 19.356(9). Thus, the Court should not concern itself with the definition of "employee" when Wis. Stat. § 19.356(9) will be operative for all "officers" of an authority that hold public office.

Moustakis's argument is puzzling because he would not be covered by Wis. Stat. § 19.356(9) even if his definition of "employee" is correct. The procedure in Wis. Stat. § 19.356(9) applies when an authority discloses records about "a record subject who is an officer or employee of the authority." Under Moustakis's definition of "employee," however, he is not employed by an authority. Thus, he would not be covered by Wis. Stat. § 19.356(9) because it is limited to records regarding "a record subject who is an officer or employee of the authority holding a local public office or a

state public office." Wis. Stat. § 19.356(9)(a). Thus, Moustakis's definition would actually make Wis. Stat. § 19.356(9) inapplicable to a large portion of the holders of local and state public office that were intended to be covered by the provision.

II. The records at issue in this case are not covered by Wis. Stat. § 19.356(2)(a)1.

The fact that the records at issue are maintained by an authority that is not Moustakis's employer does not show that the public records law is poorly drafted. Instead, it cuts against Moustakis's right to pre-release review. The legislature was aware of this issue and structured Wis. Stat. § 19.356(2)(a) such that the records at issue in this case are not subject to pre-release review even if Moustakis were an "employee." Further, allowing record subjects to obtain pre-release review of records from a law enforcement investigation would expand Wis. Stat. § 19.365 well beyond its intended application to employment-related records.

A. The investigatory records in this case are not subject to pre-release review.

Moustakis has failed to establish that the records are one of the three types of records to which the pre-release judicial review procedure applies. *See* Wis. Stat. § 19.356(2)(a)1.–3. The only potentially applicable category in this case is Wis. Stat. § 19.356(2)(a)1., which covers records "containing information *relating to an employee* that is created or kept by the authority and that is the result of

an investigation into a disciplinary matter involving the employee or possible employment-related violation by the employee of a statute, ordinance, rule, regulation, or policy of the employee's employer." Wis. Stat. § 19.356(2)(a)1. (emphasis added).²

As an initial matter, Moustakis mistakenly claims there is no "bona fide dispute between the parties over whether the records at issue in this case fall into Wis. Stat. $\S 19.356(2)(a)1$." (Moustakis Br. 15.) DOJ raised this issue in the circuit court (R. 8:13–14; R. 9, \P 7) and in the court of appeals, but both of these courts did not rule on the issue because they concluded Moustakis was not an employee. *Moustakis*, 364 Wis. 2d 740, \P 15 n.6.

Moustakis has never alleged, let alone established, that the records at issue in this case involve either "an investigation disciplinary matter" into an violation" Wis. "employment-related of law. Stat. § 19.356(2)(a)1. The records in this case cannot relate to an "investigation into a disciplinary matter" involving Moustakis because DOJ has no authority to bring a

² The second category does not apply because the documents at issue were not "obtained by the [DOJ] through a subpoena or search warrant." Wis. Stat. § 19.356(2)(a)2. The third category does not apply because the DOJ is an "authority" under public records law, so the records were not "prepared by an employer other than an authority," and because the records do not contain "information relating to an employee of that employer" given that Moustakis is not an employee of the DOJ. Wis. Stat. § 19.356(2)(a)3.

"disciplinary matter" against him given that he is not an employee of the DOJ.

The records in this case also do not relate to a possible employment-related violation of a statute, ordinance, rule, regulation or policy of the employee's employer. Moustakis's own pleadings never allege that DOJ's investigation was into an "employment-related" violation. In fact, Moustakis's complaint and amended complaint both admit "that this case does not involve allegations of on-duty misconduct by the record subject [Moustakis]." (R. 1, ¶ 9; R. 25, ¶ 10.) Moustakis submitted an affidavit attesting that "no aspect of the records suggest either on-duty misconduct by Affiant, misconduct by any member of Affiant's professional staff, nor any wrongful acts by the Vilas County District Attorney's Office." (R. 23, ¶ 8.) Simply put, DOJ's investigation into potential criminal activity of a public official does not equate to an "employment related-violation by the employee of a statute, ordinance, rule, regulation, or policy the employee's employer." Wis. of Stat. § 19.356(2)(a)1.

B. A holding that the records in this case are covered by Wis. Stat. § 19.356(2)(a)1. would expand the statute beyond its intent.

In interpreting the scope of pre-release judicial review, it is important to remember that the intent of Wis. Stat. § 19.365 was "to narrow and codify the notice and judicial

review rights set forth in Woznicki." Schill v. Wisconsin Rapids Sch. Dist., 2010 WI 86, ¶ 42, 327 Wis. 2d 572, 786 N.W.2d 177. In Woznicki, this Court granted a public employee the right to notice and de novo review in circuit court of a district attorney's decision to release the employee's "complete personnel file from his employer" and his "personal telephone records." 202 Wis. 2d at 182. The Milwaukee Teachers' court extended those same rights to public employees "when a records custodian who is not a district attorney decides to release information from the employees' personnel records in response to request made under Wisconsin's open records law." 227 Wis. 2d 779, ¶ 1. The statutory pre-release review procedure must be analyzed with this background in mind.

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